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To my father, who was my working-class hero



Prologue


WHEN I TURNED EIGHT at the end of 1957, history was being made in my street. Gough Whitlam, the man who would become the most visionary and polarising political leader in Australia, relocated his family from Cronulla to Cabramatta. The Whitlams moved into a four-bedroom, architect-designed brick modernist house in Albert Street, while I lived down the road in a two-bedroom fibro house built by my truck-driver father.


Cabramatta was a burgeoning suburb on the outskirts of south-west Sydney, its growth fuelled by post-war settlement and migration. The world, in the form of people from many countries – Italy, Greece, Ukraine, Russia and the former Yugoslav Republic – had also arrived on my doorstep.


Together, Whitlam and cultural diversity set me on a course that would take me all the way to China and beyond. I was fortunate to be born to working-class parents and in that place and at that time of unprecedented opportunities and possibilities. However, gaining privilege came at a cost.


My story is multilayered. It is one of social mobility as I crossed educational, vocational and geographical borders. My life grew larger and richer. I returned to my roots in the suburban home of my childhood, only to venture forth again. My story is one of inner and outer struggle, of trying to reconcile my past with my present.
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May you live in interesting times


ON 1 OCTOBER 1949, Chairman Mao stood at the Gate of Heavenly Peace in Beijing and announced the birth of the People’s Republic of China. The rise of communism created divisions between Australians and affected our political landscape for more than two decades.


On 10 December 1949, the Ben Chifley federal Australian Labor Party (ALP) government lost an election to the conservative Liberal–Country Coalition. Australia’s new prime minister, Robert Menzies, pledged to outlaw communism.


In between these historic events, on 1 November 1949, I was born to parents who lived in a garage in Cabramatta. Dad was a truck driver and Mum was a process worker. Neither had attended high school.


In what was typical Australian style, my parents said I was special because I was born on Melbourne Cup Day, the first Tuesday of November. The Melbourne Cup is Australia’s most famous annual horse race and has been running for over 150 years.


‘The race that stops the nation’ couldn’t stop me. After my mother gave birth, the nurses snuck off to listen to the race, leaving her in the corridor. From cup sweeps to individual bets, all the hospital staff had money riding on the outcome and the frenzied commentary made it incredibly exciting. That year the Sydney horse Foxzami won the race brilliantly in what the radio commentator described as ‘a beautiful run all the way’.


At this time, Gough Whitlam was a radio celebrity, which was a big deal in those pre-television days, having won the National Quiz Championship two years in a row.


Dad reckoned it was because of the radio quiz that Gough moved to Cabramatta and, more than 20 years later, became prime minister. Ben Chifley had initiated the national quiz and avidly listened to it. He suggested to Gough’s father, Crown Solicitor Fred Whitlam, that Gough should enter federal politics. Gough was delighted at the suggestion as he viewed the parliament as the central institution for democratic processes and believed in its potential to alleviate disadvantage.


As well as being a radio celebrity, Gough was a practising solicitor, living in Wangi Avenue, Cronulla with his social-worker wife Margaret, and two sons, Anthony and Nicholas, in an architect-designed home, which a war service loan had helped them finance. The Whitlams’ third son, Stephen, was born in April 1950 and Catherine was born almost four years later in February 1954.


Gough Whitlam took a keen interest in politics. He was a staunch member of the Labor Party. However, many in the Labor Party were wary of Gough, seeing him as a ‘silvertail’.


On his third attempt at entering politics, after unsuccessful forays into local council and state politics, on 29 November 1952, Gough succeeded. He won the federal seat of Werriwa, the most populous electorate in New South Wales, encompassing Cronulla in the east, Stanwell Park in the south and past Cabramatta in the west.


Our house in Albert Street Cabramatta was on a quarter-acre block. Like Gough, Dad had bought the land with a war service loan. He and my uncles built a garage, which we lived in while they built our fibro house with galvanised iron roof. We were part of a trend: by 1952, more than half the new houses in New South Wales were built by their owners.


Our move from the garage into our white house with forest green trims when I was two years old was a huge step up in our comfort. From family discussions, I imagine what it must have been like to enter the completed house for the first time.


I’m a toddler, climbing the front brick steps one foot at a time behind Mum and holding the wall for balance. When I turn to enter the veranda, I notice the bay window, which made our house look faux Federation.


Mum opens the front door and I follow her into our hall. It seems massive. I turn to the left and enter the lounge room with brick fireplace, and French doors that open onto the front veranda. Along the wall, in pride of place, is Dad’s bookcase with stepped shelves and lacquered finish. Most of the books are hardback. Neatly positioned on the top shelf is poetry by Banjo Patterson and Henry Lawson. Dad often read me bush poetry like the ‘Ballad of the Drover’ and stories like ‘The Loaded Dog’, about the cattle dog that blew up.


On the second shelf is a red Pears’ Cyclopaedia and a dictionary with a black cloth cover. I pick up from the end of the bookshelf the green ceramic smiling pixie, rub its ears and put it down on the bookshelf facing the door.


Leaving the lounge room, I cross the hall, turn right, and go into my parents’ bedroom. Mum makes the bed and I race to the built-in window seat, climb up and survey the street. I long to cuddle up on the seat and read my favourite book about a princess in a castle.


Scrambling off the window seat, I follow Mum out of her bedroom and peek into the separate bathroom with a huge bath and a shower. I pause at the door to the next room – the most exciting room of all – my bedroom. The room has two small windows, one overlooking the back veranda and the other on the side overlooking the vacant block next door. Placed under the side window is a chest of drawers, which Dad had painted yellow and pink, and on the far wall is a pink and yellow wooden wardrobe. Beside the chest of drawers, against the wall nearest the door, is my first bed.


I clamber up and roll around on the mattress.


‘Come and get a drink,’ calls Mum from the kitchen.


I slide off the bed, run out the door, pivot in the hall and enter the kitchen beside my bedroom. The kitchen, which is also a dining room, has a door and window onto the back veranda from where I can see the backyard and to the left, our garage. I have come full circle and wonder if I can find my way back. Maybe I should have left breadcrumbs. 


That night, I lie in my bed for the first time and try not to be frightened of being alone in the room. When I hear creaking noises, I pretend they are my pet dragons and that I am a princess in my new castle.


My princess dream didn’t last long. A few months later, the screaming of my new baby sister, Helen, shattered it. She took all the attention, cried constantly and Mum cried with her. When the baby clinic nurse realised my sister was suffering from malnutrition, Mum supplemented Helen’s milk with egg whites, and her own tea with Bex powders.


My decline from being the centre of attention to just one of the kids was complete when my female cousin, who was my age, moved into the garage with her mum and dad – Auntie Max and Uncle Norm. As my days of being the favoured child ended, I became a typical terrible two-year-old.


Some time later, Dad and my uncles finished building Uncle Norm’s house in Canley Vale, just a few minutes’ drive north of us, and my aunt, uncle and cousin moved out of the garage.


Dad moved his new second-hand car, which was slow, unreliable and often broke down, into the garage. It was always Dad’s car and, like most women in those days, Mum never learned to drive. Mum was too nervous to even try. A double doorway led to the former kitchen, which Dad turned into a workshop. He spent most of his spare time in his workshop, making things for the house and for fishing.


‘A place for everything and everything in its place.’ Dad is at his workshop bench sorting different size nails into old Vegemite jars. When he is finished, he places them in order of nail size onto the shelf above the workbench.


I’m sitting on a stool near the door and look around the workshop, taking in the long wooden bench along the back wall and shelves on each side of it containing jars of nails, screws and sinkers. At either side of the door opening that leads to the garage there are smaller benches, which hold the tools for cutting and sanding wood. There is a large vice and several wooden planes. Above these are boards with hooks for hammers, saws and chisels of different sizes and weights.


Dad lets me practise banging nails into blocks of wood offcuts.


‘Here, hold it straight like this.’ Dad hammers the nail into the wood to get me started.


For hours, I tap-tap away with my small hammer, trying to hit the nail head but not bend the nail. After many days of concentrated tapping I confidently hammer the nail right into the wood without hitting my thumb.


‘Dad, look!’ I proudly display my work. He examines the wood and nail, nods his head and puts it on the bench beside a catalogue.


The catalogue is open at a picture of outdoor wooden furniture, which Dad is making to go under the pergola he’s finished building between the house and the garage.


‘If you are especially good and quiet, you can watch me,’ Dad says one day.


I perch on the stool and watch in fascination while Dad makes sinkers by pouring molten metal into moulds. It takes all my patience to wait several days for the metal to cool and for Dad to open the mould to reveal the sinkers.


I pick up one of the oval shapes and roll it in my hands. It is heavy and smooth and I squint to look through the tiny hole at the end where the fishing line goes. One is misshapen and Dad lets me keep it.


One hot summer’s day, when I was about four years old, we piled into the car to go to Cronulla. Part way along Heathcote Road, the car overheated and Dad had to pull over on the side of the road. We waited for what seemed like hours in the heat and dust, flies buzzing around our heads, for the engine to cool down enough so Dad could put more water in.


By the time we arrived at Cronulla Beach my skin was sticking to the seat and my summer overalls were sopping wet with sweat. As soon as Dad parked the car, I slithered out of the door and sniffed the sea air. The blue water sparkled and I raced across the grass towards it, dodging sun shelters. Seagulls squawked and they seemed to be calling my name. At the beach, I skipped down the concrete steps and hopped over the hot sand. My feet sizzled in the water. I threw myself into a wave and felt the bubbles of foam wash over me and up my nose. The surf tugged at me, pulling me further under and I swallowed salt water.


For a moment I wasn’t sure which way was up.


Then I felt strong hands grip my sides. Dad lifted me into the air and hoisted me onto his shoulders.


‘Careful, Possum, this surf has an undertow,’ Dad said.


Coughing and laughing, I looked down on the swirling waves and surfers. I wondered which people were lucky enough to live in Cronulla and come to the beach every day.
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The Whitlams arrive in Albert Street


WHEN GOUGH WHITLAM and his family relocated at the end of 1957 from the eastern suburb of Cronulla to the southern half of Albert Street, Cabramatta, they moved to the part of the street that was sealed and guttered, unlike the end at which my family lived, which was a dirt road.


After overnight rain, rivulets form on the side of the dirt road in front of our place.


I’m eight, and the neighbourhood kids and I crouch in the sticky mud in the gutter and float sticks down the rivulets. We throw pieces of gravel into small pools and watch the ripples wash onto the mud, which is baby-poo yellow and squishes between our fingers when we make pies to bake in the sun.


In the afternoon, I sit on the front fence railing with my friend Frankie from across the road. He hands me a mudpie, which I nibble with my pinkie finger stuck up like a real lady would.


We are waiting for Dad to come home from work and I shade my eyes to peer up the street to see if his truck is coming yet.


At the other end of Albert Street, across Junction Street, new red-brick and tile houses are replacing the vineyards that replaced the curated living spaces of the Cabrogal band of the Darug people.


One new house stands out from the others – a geometric box with floor to ceiling glass windows across the front and a flat roof.


‘Can’t wait to find out who’s movin’ into the flash new house,’ says Frankie. ‘Maybe it’s someone rich.’


‘I hope it’s someone famous,’ I say.


‘Wonder how the rain runs off the flat roof,’ Frankie laughs and nearly falls off the fence.


‘Bet my Dad’ll know,’ I say as I spot the truck turning the corner.


We watch Dad expertly park the truck on the verge in front of us, turn off the engine and open the door.


‘Can we play on the back of the truck?’ I ask.


‘Have you been good?’


‘Yes,’ I say. ‘Very good.’


‘Okay, just for a little while.’


Dad buys a newspaper from the boy who rides his bike down the street blowing a whistle, and walks up the drive to our house.


In what seems like almost no time, Mum comes out of the front door and stands on the porch with her hand shading her eyes from the afternoon sun.


‘Come on, it’s time for dinner,’ she says.


Frankie and I jump down from the truck tray and Frankie goes home.


I climb the front steps and follow Mum into the bathroom where she gives me a wet cloth to wipe the grime from my mouth.


‘Just as well dirt is good for you,’ she says.


During dinner at our scrubbed pine kitchen table with red legs, I listen intently when Dad says, ‘I see those toffs, the Whitlams, have moved into the fancy house with the flat roof.’


My mind races with questions. What’s a toff? Who are the Whitlams? Eager to catch Dad’s attention I pipe up with the next question that enters my head.


‘Who’d be so stupid to live in a house with a flat roof ?’ I look at Dad. He sucks the marrow from his chop and wipes his fingers on the napkin.


‘It’s Gough Whitlam,’ he says. ‘Our new local member has moved here from Cronulla.’


‘What’s a local member?’ I ask.


My sister Helen wriggles on the chair between Mum and Dad.


‘Someone who’s been elected to government. Gough’s a member of the Australian parliament.’ Dad takes a slice of bread, puts jam and butter on it and cuts it into four squares. Mum rises to clear the plates and make a cup of tea. 


‘He’s called the local member because he represents everyone in our area, or electorate. Our electorate is called Werriwa.’


‘And who’d be so stupid to move away from the beach?’ I dream of living near the sea. ‘What made him come here?’ I ask.


Helen gives me a dirty look; she’s probably hoping Dad won’t give me another lengthy explanation. Dad takes a bite of his bread and chews it while I wait in anticipation for his response.


‘The area has grown so much that two years ago, in 1955, there was a boundary change which excluded Cronulla from Werriwa.’


I listen intently, trying to imagine a boundary moving, like a fence post being shifted.


‘Werriwa now covers Liverpool, Cabramatta and Fairfield.’


Dad pauses and pours himself a cup of tea, adds two spoonfuls of sugar and stirs the hot amber liquid.


‘Reckon Whitlam thought he’d have a better chance if he stayed in this electorate, which meant he had to move.’


Dad and I were on safe ground talking about Gough Whitlam. It was a different matter if I asked Dad about his family and upbringing. Then he’d close up. Throughout my childhood, he told me and my sister to keep family matters at home and not talk about what happened in the house to our friends. This confused me, as our family seemed to be very ordinary. Dad’s warning left me sensing he had secrets we hadn’t been told.


Dad’s parents and twin sister died before I was born and we rarely saw our two remaining aunts and cousins on Dad’s side. Helen and I managed to glean a few pieces of information about Dad’s family from eavesdropping on adult conversations. We knew they were poor and moved around seeking work on farms and that Dad had left school to go droving. Sometimes Dad talked about his droving days and the places he visited up north and out west. He described sitting around a campfire on logs boiling the billy and sleeping outside in a swag under thousands of stars. I imagined riding over rolling plains behind hundreds of mooing cattle, and smelling gum trees after rain. These stories inspired me to travel Australia like he had.


In contrast to Dad’s family, we were always visiting Mum’s three sisters and her brother and their children. Every May we went on family holidays with Nan and our aunts, uncles and cousins to Forster. Forster is over 300 kilometres north of Cabramatta and took a full day of travel along winding roads as well as a ferry ride across the mouth of Wallis Lake. Once we arrived, Mum and our aunts spent the mornings with the children at the beach while Dad and our uncles fished. In the afternoons some of the men took the women fishing and the rest looked after us kids.


Mum was happy to chat on about her father, ‘the second son of a lord’. I loved to hear about how he was promised to marry a rich woman in South Africa but ran away to sea and met my grandmother at the Sea Breeze Hotel at Tom Uglys Point south of Sydney. My grandmother, ‘a descendant of Italian royalty’, was living there with her aunt.


I am still trying to find evidence of those tales, but as a young girl, I believed them. In my imagination I created stories about returning to England to live in a royal palace by the sea and going on holidays to Paris.


My relationship with Mum was complex. I took her love for granted, bristled at her fears for me and, to my present-day shame, I sometimes looked down on her. I thought she was being a doormat when she responded to family disputes by saying, ‘We should keep the peace at any price.’


I unflinchingly adored Dad and sought his love and praise. Dad valued actions over words and never told me he loved me. He was renowned in the family for deeds he did without fanfare and often in secret.


One day, while visiting Nan’s house, Dad noticed the side gate was broken. Next time we saw her, Nan asked Dad if he’d been the one to fix it and he shrugged his shoulders and looked away.


‘I knew it was you, Ernie,’ said Nan. ‘Typical. Thanks.’


Much later, I learned that Dad regularly visited his widowed sister who lived in Liverpool, on his way home from work, and did odd jobs for her.


After dinner, Dad reads the paper and does the crossword, carefully writing any word he doesn’t know in a leather-bound book. He checks the meaning in the dictionary and records it alongside the word in sloped capital letters.


Helen and I help Mum wash the dishes, which we were allowed to do as soon as we could reach the sink. I am tall enough to wash but Helen is smaller than I was at her age and is only allowed to dry the small plates and cups. While we work, we listen to the radio.


Our radio is in a polished walnut cabinet and stands on the kitchen floor beside the refrigerator. We listen to the news, which is read by a man with a British accent. On weeknights, we love listening to Blue Hills, a popular serial about people living in a fictional country town.


When music comes on, I dance with the tea towel, showing off the steps I learned in my tap or ballet classes. One of the hits I dance to is ‘The Slow Boat to China’.


Mum scrimps to pay for my lessons in a local hall with an instructor who gave up her dance career when she married. She told Mum I was good enough to attend advanced classes in the city, but we can’t afford them.


‘Why do they live in a brick house and why is their part of the road sealed and ours isn’t?’ I ask Dad the night the Whitlams move to our street. I am hoping to delay bedtime, which is only possible because it is school holidays.


Dad puts down his pen and looks up from his crossword puzzle.


‘Because they’re better off than we are,’ he says.


‘But we’re well off. We have a house, a car and a truck,’ I protest.


‘The truck’s not mine,’ Dad says. ‘It belongs to the State Public Works Department.’


‘So, we’re not well off?’


Dad grins and looks straight at me with his dark grey eyes, as if summing me up.


‘Possum,’ he says, which always makes me feel snuggly warm, ‘jes remember, there’s many who’re better off than us, and many that aren’t. What’s important is to make the most of what you’ve got. Now, off to bed if you wanna be bright-eyed and bushy-tailed in the morning.’


Dad was always the first person awake. When my parents married, Mum tried to get up early enough to make Dad’s breakfast, but he ordered her back to bed and always took her a cup of tea before going to work.


On Saturdays, which were clothes washing days, Dad lit the copper before anyone was up. We had a separate laundry in the backyard with a copper for boiling water and concrete tubs for washing, which Mum did. She was delighted when Dad bought a washing machine with a wringer.


Over time, Dad had also replaced the clothesline between wooden posts across the backyard with a Hills hoist. The rotary clothes hoist had been manufactured in South Australia since 1945 and was already an Australian icon. It was efficient at drying clothes and Mum no longer had to move the sheets and clothes around to get them dry.


‘Don’t you swing on it, you girls,’ Dad says. I look at the Hills hoist longingly, never daring to disobey Dad.


If his steely look didn’t work, the threat of paspalum around my bare legs was enough to stop me in my tracks.


Dad turns on the tap and hoses out the toilet, which is in a separate building on the other side of the laundry. It’s Saturday and the pan is emptied early every Monday. The dunny man runs up the side of the house with a clean pan and walks back balancing the full pan on his shoulder.


When I was little, Mum had to take me to the toilet and help me onto the seat. I’d sit there, swinging my feet and watching the daddy-long-legs creep up their webs. ‘They’re lucky spiders; they won’t harm you,’ Mum said. I believe her because Mum is frightened of most things. My aunts even nicknamed her ‘Scaredy Pat’. I know if Mum isn’t scared, then I definitely won’t be. We use cut-up newspaper hung from a wire hook to wipe ourselves. 


Walking past the toilet, I go through the gate of a wooden fence that divides the backyard in two. Beyond the fence is a vegetable garden, an incinerator, a toolshed and swing. The swing is in front of the toolshed and is made of heavy pipe and rope, with a wooden seat. I try to swing myself but can’t get as high as when Dad pushes hard and I can touch the top of the shed with my toes.


While the swing is moving, I jump off, stumble and hop past the vegetable garden and incinerator to visit the two chook pens. They are right at the end of the yard, along the back fence.


Most of our neighbours have chooks, which provide a regular supply of eggs as well as fertiliser for the vegetable garden. Dad rotates the chooks between the pens depending on which hens are laying eggs and which ones are breeding.


Carefully opening one of the gates and closing it behind me, I go into the chook house that is my makeshift cubby house.


‘Hello Daisy, hello Milly,’ I say to my favourite chooks, who watch me while I have morning tea with my dirt-encrusted pink tea set. I am so engrossed in my game that I don’t hear Mum calling me for lunch and Dad comes to get me.


As I leave the chook pen, I say goodbye to Daisy and Milly and pray that Dad will choose neither for our Christmas lunch.


Every year, Dad picked one of the fattened-up hens for our Christmas lunch. In those days, chicken was a luxury and too expensive for our family to buy. Dad would chop its head off in front of the tool shed. One year I watched the chook running around without a head. It seemed weird that the chook could still move without a head. I was so mesmerised that I didn’t feel sad or horrified, and I ate the cooked chicken.


Another luxury was the Christmas pudding Mum made during October. She’d soak the dried fruit and allspice in brandy, then knead the fruit in a large washing pan with the dry ingredients before wrapping the mixture in calico. This part was the most critical as she had to get all the air out. Dad helped her pour the sticky dough into the calico and tie the string. He hung the pudding on the back veranda where it was left to cure.


First thing in the morning on Christmas Day, Mum put the pudding on the stove to boil for hours. In the meantime, Helen and I would go with Dad to Nan’s house on the other side of Cabramatta, past the railway line, to show her our presents and receive more. Nan was our only remaining grandparent and Helen and I adored her.


When we returned home the house would be even hotter than outside but the smell of pudding was inviting. I would barely be able to wait to have the pudding and see if there was a silver coin in my slice. There always was. When I asked for a second helping I’d end up with two silver coins.


Our new geographic proximity to the Whitlams, albeit at the opposite end of the street, meant our paths inevitably crossed.


Us kids at our end of the street were inverse snobs. We were proud of our fibro houses and dirt street that you could play cricket on because hardly any cars ventured down our part of the road. Our gang included my friend Frankie and his older brother Johnnie, Gary and me. Helen played alone or with Gary’s younger brother and we sometimes let them join us. While it was daylight we played outside on the street, in each other’s yards, or in a vacant block. Frankie and I were in the same grade-two class at primary school and we played together, usually on the nature strip in front of our diagonally opposite houses.


We built a secret cubbyhouse on the vacant block next to Gary’s place, on the corner of Albert and Junction streets. We ignored the pain from bindies and sticks, toughening up the soles of our bare feet. We also ignored Auntie Nell’s warnings to be careful of ticks as we scrambled in the undergrowth of the tea-trees, collecting sticks and foliage for our cubbyhouse. Auntie Nell wasn’t my real aunt; she was Gary’s mother and a friend of Mum’s. Helen and I called all adults who were close to the family auntie or uncle.


From the vacant block, in between collecting twigs and leaves for our cubbyhouse, we had watched the flat-roofed house being built. The week the Whitlam family moved in we sat in the cubbyhouse to tell each other everything we knew.


‘Met the kid from the flat-roofed house,’ says Gary a few days later. ‘Name’s Stephen and he’s same age as Frankie.’


‘And me,’ I add.


We are outside the cubbyhouse.


‘Wonder if he’ll go to our school,’ says Frankie. Frankie is scraping a stick on a tea-tree to form his initial.


I turn from watching Frankie and look across at the flat-roofed house.


‘Maybe he could join our group,’ I venture, and wait with bated breath for Johnnie, our unofficial leader, to respond. He was the oldest and assumed the responsibility of ensuring us younger kids toed the line.


‘But he’s from the posh end of the street,’ says Johnnie. Johnnie picks up a stone, aims and throws it at a branch. ‘Reckon he’d be too stuck up to play with us.’


‘Not true,’ says Gary, standing up straight to be taller than the older Johnnie. ‘Anyway, I reckon he’d know how to play cricket and we need more kids in our team.’


Johnnie looks at Frankie and me. We nod, eager to meet the new boy and hoping to get a chance to see inside his house.


‘Okay then,’ says Johnnie.


The next day, Frankie, Johnnie and I wander up to the vacant block from the middle of Albert Street, a tight little group.


Stephen Whitlam is waiting with Gary. He is the same height as Gary, but without Gary’s laconic slouch he stands taller. He observes us from beneath a mop of dark hair, looking as if he couldn’t care less whether we accepted him or not. 


‘You must be the new kid,’ says Johnnie,


Frankie and I stand to the side, shuffling our feet and making patterns in the dirt.


‘I am,’ says Stephen in perfectly formed English, like on the radio.


‘Jeez,’ says Johnnie. ‘You even talk like a toff.’


I can’t take my eyes off Stephen’s mop of dark hair and aristocratic stance. This kid is clearly from another planet, that milieu or place I sometimes fantasised I came from.


‘So, you wanna play with us?’ asks Johnnie as he pokes a stick into a shrub.


‘Course he does,’ says Gary. ‘We already talked about it and agreed.’


‘Let ’im speak for himself,’ says Johnnie. ‘Do yer or don’t yer wanna join our gang?’


‘Um. I guess so,’ replies Stephen.


‘Okay then,’ says Johnnie. ‘Got any brothers who’d like to join?’


‘They’re older. Anthony is 13 and goes back to Cronulla to surf and Nicholas is 12 and does swimming training.’


‘Suppose they go to a toff school,’ says Johnnie.


‘Actually, they both go Sydney Boys High.’


‘And you?’ asks Frankie.


‘I’ll be going to Cabramatta Primary.’


‘Same as us,’ says Frankie.


‘Do you have a sister?’ I ask.


‘Catherine is only three years old.’ Even younger than my sister, who is five years old.


And that was that. Stephen was part of our gang. Not that we were much of a gang; we were just a bunch of kids who moved together up and down the street. And not that Stephen was an enthusiastic member of our group. He wasn’t interested in sport and often preferred to stay at home and read rather than play in the muddy gutters or catch tadpoles at the creek.


At the bottom of Albert Street, past the Whitlam house, was Cabramatta Creek. Dad had warned me not to go down to the creek without an adult. This didn’t deter me from constantly wanting to go there, especially in the summer school holidays.


It’s so hot I can’t resist joining Frankie and Johnnie to explore Cabramatta Creek.


We saunter down Albert Street, past Auntie Nell’s house, where we collect Gary, who is playing in our cubbyhouse. We look both ways before crossing Junction Street. As we walk towards the Whitlam house, we see many people waiting outside, some carrying bags of tomatoes and apples.


Most speak in languages I don’t understand and Johnnie says they are newly arrived migrants or farmers.


We spy Stephen reading under a mulberry tree on the large block of vacant land across the road from the Whitlam house, where a vineyard used to be.


‘What are those people doing outside your house?’ asks Johnnie.


‘They’re waiting to see Gough,’ says Stephen.


‘Who?’ asks Johnnie.


‘Gough Whitlam … my father.’


‘Course.’ Johnnie screws up his face. ‘Doesn’t he have an office?’


‘He has one in the Commonwealth Bank building in Martin Place, with a very efficient secretary.’


‘My Auntie Peg is a secretary,’ I announce.


Auntie Peg is one of my real aunties; she’s Mum’s sister-in-law.


‘However, local people prefer to come to our house,’ continues Stephen.


‘Does he have an office at home?’ I ask, imagining a room full of bookshelves and a large wooden desk.


‘No, he works at the dining-room table.’


‘Don’t think my mum’d like that,’ Frankie says.


‘It does cause some controversy, though we’re used to people coming to see Father.’


Often we’d climb the tree and eat mulberries until our faces were purplish-black and our stomachs rumbled, but today we are keen to get to the creek.


‘Do yer wanna come to the creek with us?’ asks Johnnie.


‘No, thank you. I want to finish my book.’


‘Next time then?’


Stephen looks up from his book and half nods.


Frankie, Johnnie, Gary and I proceed through the vacant block to the big stables which front onto Liverpool Street.


The stable complex is owned by the Andrews family and covers half the block. Inside is a large Federation house and several barn-like buildings with stables for the racehorses that run at Warwick Farm, on the other side of the highway.


We cross Liverpool Street to another vacant block that has a well-beaten path to Cabramatta Creek. The bush along Cabramatta Creek is thick and we scramble through the overhanging gum and willow trees that make the creek cool and inviting in summer.


Dad told me Cabramatta Creek means white grub creek, and I’ve searched in vain for the grubs that are supposed to proliferate on the wattle trees in the area.


‘Cabra’ is the name given to the grub by the Cabrogol people, and ‘matta’ means place. The village of Cabramatta was renamed in the 1830s, replacing the name Moonshine Run, which it was given in 1795 by a settler called Hatfield because the bush was so thick the moonshine couldn’t get through, at least that’s what Dad said.


We play on the riverbank, dappled sunlight flickering on the mossy rocks. We rearrange stones to make a dam and catch tadpoles in our socks. There is a pool further up and Johnnie dangles over the water from a rope that hangs from the massive gum trees on the edge of the creek.


While I sit on a warm rock, paddling my bare feet in the cool water, I close my eyes and imagine the creek as a raging torrent, which happens when it rains heavily.


The creek broke its banks at least once a year and flooded the road under the railway line viaduct. One year the wooden bridge joining Cabramatta to the paddocks of Warwick Farm washed away in a flood and was never replaced. The remaining pylons stuck out of the water and the daredevil kids often climbed them. But even the bravest kid wouldn’t try this in a flood.


The largest flood in more than 100 years had occurred the year before, in 1956. The water threatened the houses bordering the creek, came up Broomfield Street and submerged a parked car. Dad took Helen and me to see the muddy water flooding the roadway and viaduct. We stood in our dripping raincoats in awe of the swirling brown water carrying logs and other debris.


Afterwards, we helped Dad cut out an article from the paper about the floods, which reported that someone saw a dead cow being carried downstream towards the Georges River.


‘Christine Margaret Sykes.’ I hear my father’s booming voice, open my eyes and realise the other kids are nowhere to be seen. I must have been engrossed in my thoughts and they left to go home.


‘What do yer think you’re doing?’


Dad’s shadow looms over me. In his hand he has the longest piece of paspalum I’ve ever seen.


‘You’re in big trouble, my girl.’ Dad raises the paspalum in the air. ‘Get home now or you’ll be in even bigger trouble.’


I take off up the path and along the street. I hear Dad behind me and turn to see the paspalum high in the air. Heart pounding, I scream as I almost trip. I run past the few people still waiting outside the Whitlam house to see Gough.


When I reach the corner at Junction Street, I pause to check whether there are cars coming, and race across the road. Dad follows and I hear the crunch of his feet on the gravel-filled potholes in our dirt road.


I burst into the kitchen. Mum turns away from the sink under the window overlooking the side path. She wipes tears from her eyes with a handkerchief.


‘Oh, love. We were so worried about you.’


The screen door slams and Dad comes into the kitchen, empty-handed.


‘I reckon she’s had enough of a scare not to run off like that again,’ he says. He turns to me. ‘But if I ever catch you at that creek, you’ll cop more than paspalum around the back of your legs.’


One morning, not long afterwards, I knock tentatively on the Whitlam’s blue front door.


The other kids have dared me to ask Stephen if he wants to come and play cricket with us. I am stepping from one foot to the other watching my feet and counting when I hear the door open and feel the great man’s presence towering above me.


I blink, expecting Mr Whitlam to be in his suit and tie, like in the newspaper pictures. Instead, he wears a blue tartan dressing gown – the kind I want to snuggle up in, to bury my face in its safe warmth and softness. It is the same pattern as my dad’s, only not darned at the elbows.


‘What can I do for you?’ Mr Whitlam asks in a deep, mellow voice.


‘I ... I’m here to see Stephen.’


‘Oh well, I’m afraid I can’t help you there.’


‘P-p-pardon?’


‘Stephen is not home. He’s gone out with his mother.’


Overwhelmed by the presence of this imposing man, I can’t think of anything to say. My hand shoots out and I brush the dressing gown with my finger; it feels so much plusher than Dad’s worn and scratchy dressing gown.


‘Who shall I tell him called?’ Gough asks.


‘Christine.’ I retrieve my hand, turn and race down the path.


Even though I’m embarrassed at touching Mr Whitlam’s dressing gown, I feel a glow of warmth from his voice and the feel of the material.


Dad and Gough were from different backgrounds, but both were well over six feet tall – Gough was 193 centimetres – and there was only a year difference in their ages.


Gough was solid, with dark hair and pale skin. He was an orator, a wordsmith and did not participate in small talk. He was well versed in Shakespeare and wrote poetry in the style of Alexander Pope.


Dad was tanned, lean and leathery from years working as a stockman, and from fishing in the sun. Dad had black hair and grey eyes. He was a laconic, sombre man.


Dad reckoned all Australian children should learn Australian poetry.


‘I got out of learning John Donne’s poetry once I proved I could recite “The Man from Snowy River” by heart,’ Dad told Helen and me many times.


Every New Year’s Eve, after a few beers on the back veranda and just outside our bedroom window, Dad would open his throat and recite ‘The Man from Snowy River’ while my sister and I lay in our beds listening to the stockmen chasing the colt from old Regret, which was worth a thousand pound. The steep terrain is full of wombat holes and the best riders in the land withdraw from the pursuit in fear, but an unknown ‘stripling’ among them on a ‘slight and weedy’ horse tears down the dangerous mountainside, following and eventually capturing the wild brumbies and the colt that had joined them. I pictured Dad as the stripling, the daring young man from Snowy River. I wondered if I could ever be like that youth, relentlessly following my goal in the face of obstacles and being praised by the likes of Clancy of the Overflow.


Dad told us he wanted to be a carpenter after primary school but it was impossible to get into a trade unless your father was a tradesman. Instead, at age 12, he went droving.


Meanwhile, Gough excelled at school and won a scholarship to Sydney University. He repeated school and sat the Leaving Certificate three times because his father thought Gough was too young to go to university.


Growing up, Gough moved several times with his family as his father’s career grew, ending up in Canberra.


My dad, Ernie, was born in Cowra and his family moved many times as his father chased work on farms in south-west New South Wales. They ended up in Liverpool, not far from Cabramatta, where his dad, my grandfather, worked as a rag-and-bone man, collecting and reselling other people’s discarded items.


Gough and Ernie were both imposing men. When they spoke, one in Strine the other in a BBC voice, people listened. They had gravitas.


My dad never sought a political or public life. He was a staunch Labor supporter and union member, but he never joined the Labor Party. He refused a management job, saying he wouldn’t sell out to the bosses. Dad remained a worker all his life and died a truck driver.


He embarrassed me at a school once when he called out ‘’ere, ’ere!’ to a point made by another parent, as if he were in a workers meeting and not the school library. Yet I was proud of him. And he was proud to have Gough Whitlam living at the other end of our street.


‘He came to live amongst us,’ Dad often said.


This sentiment is echoed by everyone I talk to who lived in Cabramatta at that time: a wonder and pride that a man of Whitlam’s stature, education and privilege would choose to live in our suburb, when he could have lived anywhere in the electorate.
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School shoes and warm milk


AT THE END OF JANUARY 1958, I was excited to return to Cabramatta Public School and looking forward to going into third class, which was in upper primary. Stephen Whitlam was at my school, but in a boys class. The school was co-educational from kindergarten to second class and segregated from third class to sixth class.


The whole school had more than 800 students, with 35 to 40 students in each class. Cabramatta Primary had grown enormously since Mum, her three sisters (Thel, Max and Val) and brother (Lloyd) attended in the early 1900s, when Cabramatta was a semi-rural area. Going to the same school as my family members gave me a sense of history and belonging. It was a connection to the past, as if I had some inside knowledge that other children didn’t.


The school grounds covered half a block between Levuka Street, Cabramatta Road and Cumberland Street. The original red-brick double-storey building had been joined by several fibro buildings arranged around three quadrangles – one for the younger children, one for the upper primary girls and one for the upper primary boys.


The post-war baby boom as well as the post-war immigration program fuelled the growth of the school. After World War II, the birth rate increased from an average of two children per couple to more than three children per couple.


Most of the new families settled in the western suburbs where schools had to be rapidly expanded to cater for the growth in student numbers.


I pull my crisp, short-sleeved white shirt over my nut-brown tanned skin, carefully wriggle into my second-hand uniform, a pleated serge black tunic, and tie the belt. Wearing school uniforms was mandatory from third year, and like most children my age I never questioned it.


The big challenge is to push my broad, toughened feet into my shiny new black lace-up shoes. We’d bought them from Wheatley’s shoe store, which is on the other side of the railway line. Wheatley’s is a V-shaped corner store with towers of shoeboxes all the way to the ceiling and a wooden ladder on wheels to access the boxes. Dad has shown me how to polish my shoes, using the Kiwi black polish he keeps in the wooden case he’s made in his workshop. The box has tins of black, brown and tan polish, a brush for each colour and a chamois to shine the shoes.


I check my Globite school bag. These bags, which have a hard brown case, a gold clasp and leather handle, are made by an Australian company based in the Sydney suburb of Surry Hills and are carried by legions of children throughout the twentieth century. Inside my bag is a set of pencils I’d received for Christmas and my lunch, which is white bread and vegemite wrapped in greaseproof paper, and a piece of fruit.


‘An apple a day keeps the doctor away,’ as Mum says. I believe her and try to eat an apple every day.


After a final check of my clothes, hair and bag, I race out the back door, eager to get to school, which is only a block and a half from my house.


‘Wait for your sister and me!’ calls Mum.


At the front gate I pause and wave to old Mrs Taylor who lives next door. Her place is a small square fibro house set back on the block. Dad mows their front nature strip and lawn when he is doing ours. Dad prides himself on his lawn-mowing skills and won’t let me help until I am much older and can mow in a straight line. Mrs Taylor’s granddaughter is my age and lives in Fairfield, a suburb slightly north-east of Cabramatta. Whenever she visits, we play in their front yard and spend hours watching snails crawl along the front porch, leaving silver trails behind. I am enthralled by their deft ability to instantly withdraw into their coiled shells at any sign of danger and sometimes wish I could be a snail.


As Mum and Helen come out of the side gate, I pick up a snail that is crossing the pathway and put it in the garden, even though Dad reckons they’re a pest.


Too impatient to wait for Mum and Helen, I cross the street to where Mrs B is weeding the vegetable plot in her front garden. She wears a scarf on her head and we call her Mrs B because we can’t pronounce her full name. Her house is multicoloured with red, bright blue and yellow panels. Vegetables and herbs grow in the front yard instead of the rose bushes we have in ours.


Mr and Mrs B don’t have any children and Dad told us they were White Russians. I think this sounds exotic and imagine them travelling a huge distance by sled and boat from a strange twilight land covered with snow. This image fills me with longing to visit faraway places like Mongolia, which I’ve seen on an atlas and know is between Russia and China.


Dad explained they had to flee from Russia as they don’t support the communist government. They made beetroot soup called borscht. I can’t work out why anyone would want to make soup from the thin slices of beetroot Mum puts on our salad. The house next door to Mr and Mrs B is where Auntie Mavis lives. She isn’t my real auntie either. Auntie Mavis is Frankie and Johnnie’s mother, my closest playmates in the street.


Frankie comes out the front door, ready to go to school and joins me. We look down the road towards the Whitlam house to check if Stephen is coming and when we don’t see him we turn and skip up Albert Street in the opposite direction, with Mum and my younger sister trailing behind.


Mum is walking us to school because five-year-old Helen is starting first class, having finished kindergarten the year before.


A few doors further up the street we pass a fibro house painted in different shades of blue. The family who live there are from the Federal People’s Republic of Yugoslavia and their daughter, a friend of Helen’s, comes out and joins us. Her relatives live in the garage, which looks like a playhouse with orange geraniums in its window boxes.


Next to the blue house is half a fibro house with a brick front porch. The family is from Lithuania. Their daughter, Lina, is my age. We’re friends and we mostly play at her house, as her parents don’t allow her to wander around the streets or to be part of our gang.


Frankie and I dodge the fresh horse manure on the road, still warm from the early morning horses that trot up and down our street pulling a two-wheeled cart as training for harness racing. The horses belong to the small privately owned stables on the corner of Albert Street and Boundary Lane. As we pass the stables, we pause to admire the gleaming horses through a crack in the fence.


After crossing Boundary Lane, we head down Levuka Street, past the small brick Federation houses with bay windows and brick porches that are older than our fibro house. Levuka Street is a short bitumen road, and I can already feel the February heat rising from the concrete footpath through the soles of my new shoes.


I want Mum to leave me at the school gate, but she insists on coming in with my sister and me and telling everyone in a loud voice about when she went to school there. At least, I think it was loud.


When I see Mrs Whitlam with Stephen and his young sister Catherine, I wave. Mum smiles and nods to Mrs Whitlam, who is taller than all the other mothers. At 187 centimetres, she stands proud with a wide smile on her face, greeting everyone equally – the teachers, mothers and kids – like we are all important.


Mrs Whitlam was seven years younger than Mum. My mum seemed to be older than most of the other mothers, having married and had me when she was already well into her thirties. The average age for women to marry then was about 23 – now it is about 28. I was never sure how old Mum was. She once told me she was 43 and she seemed to be 43 every time I asked. I found out later she always said she was younger, as she was too embarrassed to tell my father she was older than him.


When we reach the lower primary quadrangle, I say goodbye to Mum and Helen. Helen doesn’t have to wear a uniform because she is in lower primary. She is wearing a new dress, which Mum made on the treadle sewing machine on the back veranda. Like many other mothers, Mum makes most of our clothes as well as her own.


Many of the younger children in the quadrangle are wearing oversized clothing, while some of the migrant children are in clothes that are too hot for summer, and a few children from the market gardens are in clothes with dirt on them and no shoes.


I stand in the big quadrangle with the upper primary girls while the headmistress welcomes us and we sing ‘God Save the Queen’. Ignoring the heat rising from the tarmac, I sing at the top of my voice, thinking how beautifully the Queen speaks. When we finish singing, the headmistress calls out our names and tells us which class we are in. Names are called alphabetically and she stumbles while saying some of the names of the migrant children, although many others have been anglicised. Being a Sykes, I have to wait until towards the end to find out I am going to be in 3A. There are 38 girls in my class.


At little lunch, or recess, we drink milk from bottles sized one third of a pint, delivered in metal crates daily by the milkman. If we are lucky, the milk is left in the shade in summer, if not, it is warm as there is no refrigeration.


This day it is warm and I push the straw through the silver foil on top of the bottle, being careful not to spill any on my uniform, like I had often done the previous year. A few of the boys are having a sculling competition on the path between the upper boys’ and girls’ playgrounds, out of sight of the teachers. One of them vomits onto the path and they laugh their heads off.


The school milk program was introduced by the Menzies government in 1951 to ensure school children had enough calcium. The Whitlam government stopped the program 20 years later following a report that questioned its nutritional value. I sometimes wonder whether it was because Stephen complained to his father about the often-sour milk.


I didn’t see much of Stephen Whitlam at school as the upper primary boys and girls were only allowed to be together for dancing classes on the asphalt quadrangle behind the original brick building. Stephen stood out amid the other boys due to his height and was one of the few boys taller than me.


Dancing classes were a trial and I hoped I could dance with Frankie, but was usually the last to be chosen, often by one of the shortest boys. Fortunately most of our dances were progressive, like the barn dance, and danced with a variety of boys.


As I twirled from one boy to the next, I noticed how many were from different cultural backgrounds, and that some smelt of something strange and potent – a smell I now recognise as garlic. One boy who I vaguely knew, was from a family that Mum had told me was Aboriginal. I wondered why he looked much like the rest of us when we were tanned.


When I asked Dad about this he told me ‘Aboriginal blood is bred out’, which I didn’t understand but I felt sad that people would lose who they were. This belief, that ‘Aboriginal blood is bred out’, has been the basis of shameful practices and policies of Australian governments over many decades, policies designed to absorb, or eliminate, the Aboriginal population.


Like many school children at the time, I was ignorant of the history and issues facing Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. The stories we were told of Aboriginal people showing explorers how to get across the Blue Mountains seemed incongruous to me with other stories about them spearing the white colonisers. Either way, like most of us, I didn’t make the connection between the Aboriginal children at our school and the generations of Aboriginal people living here prior to the arrival of the British.


Aboriginal people were presented by my schoolteachers as one homogenous group, and I had no concept of their particular identities or affiliations, let alone imagining that some of them belonged to families who had lived in my neighbourhood for hundreds of generations. In addition, my studies fostered the view that Australia was justifiably settled and that the colonisers brought civilisation and prosperity to primitive people. We were not taught about the massacres and fierce Aboriginal resistance.


I have since learned that many Aboriginal children were embarrassed when the teachers talked about Aboriginal people as ‘savages’. These children knew about their Aboriginal heritage and struggled with feeling they had to explain or fight for their identity. Other children were from the Stolen Generation and had no idea at the time of their Aboriginal identity or heritage.


The writer Bruce Pascoe points out that even the most reformminded Australians, like Manning Clark and Gough Whitlam, failed to acknowledge Aboriginal agriculture, science and diplomacy.


For me, as for many other Australians, reading Bruce Pascoe’s Dark Emu was a revelation and I am ashamed of my prior ignorance.


One afternoon our gang of kids go to Stephen’s place, hoping to get a look inside his flat-roofed brick house.


When Margaret Whitlam opens the peacock blue front door, she smiles and her eyes are like pools. Mum’s eyes are black, like dark pits, being mostly pupils. Mum, some of my aunties and one of my cousins have a rare genetic condition called congenital aniridia, which results in complete or partial absence of the iris. Mum has to wear glasses, and in photos her eyes are red. When she goes to the Sydney Eye Hospital we have lunch in Coles Cafeteria, usually a pie and chips with tomato sauce, or sausages and mashed potato with gravy. Before I get a chance to tell Mrs Whitlam this, Johnnie pipes up.


‘We came to see if Stephen wants to play,’ he says.


Mrs Whitlam wears a sleeveless straight dress with a flower pattern, which is called a shift. I am the only girl in the group and I feel her eyes rest on my head. I am large for my age and feel as if she is measuring me, calculating how much taller I will grow. Although I’m usually conscious of the space I take up, I don’t feel the need to shrink myself in her company. I shuffle my feet, feeling the heat from the front step on my bare soles.


‘Come in, children,’ she says in her smooth and warm cultured voice.


Johnnie, Frankie, Gary and I file through the cool hall into the kitchen, which has high benches and shiny surfaces.


Stephen joins us.


‘Would you like a drink?’ Mrs Whitlam asks.


‘Water, please,’ I say. The other kids ask for milk.


‘Are you sure you don’t want some milk and a biscuit?’ Mrs Whitlam asks.

OEBPS/images/image0003-00.jpg
Gough

SMe





OEBPS/images/image0005-00.jpg
Gough

and & y A
e

Chrigtine “Sykes





OEBPS/images/image0006-01.jpg
MM A catalogue record for this

(eSS, book is available from the
LIBKARY National Library of Australia





OEBPS/images/cover.jpg
Christine “Sykes
MY JOURNEY FROM CABRAMATTA
TO CHINA AND BEYOND






OEBPS/page-template.xpgt
 

   
    
		 
    
  
     
		 
		 
    

     
		 
    

     
		 
		 
    

     
		 
    

     
		 
		 
    

     
         
             
             
             
             
             
             
        
    

  

   
     
  





